ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE SUPREME COURT

---

Certiorari to Lexington County

Frank R. Addy, Circuit Court Judge

---

RECEIVED

MAY 19 2015

S.C. Supreme Court

STANLEY GOLSON,

PETITIONER,

V.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

RESPONDENT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2014-000446.

---

BRIEF OF PETITIONER

---

ROBERT M. PACHAK  
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense  
Division of Appellate Defense  
PO Box 11589  
Columbia, S. C. 29211-1589  
(803) 734-1343

ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER.

#

ISSUE PRESENTED

Whether trial counsel was ineffective in failing to object to the trial judge providing audio equipment that allowed the jury to listen to the tape of the controlled buy with the confidential informant, when that unduly emphasized that portion of the State's case?

## STATEMENT

Petitioner was convicted of distribution of crack cocaine and distribution of the same within proximity of a school after a jury trial held before the Honorable R. Knox McMahon in Lexington County on April 3, 2007. Petitioner was sentenced to life imprisonment without the possibility of parole. Josh Kendrick, Esquire, was trial counsel. Samuel R. Hubbard, III, Esquire, and M. Kent Collins, II, Esquire were the solicitors. (App. P. 1- p. 222).

Petitioner appealed his conviction and it was affirmed by the Court of Appeals on July 6, 2010. State v. Golson, 2010-UP-347.

Petitioner filed an application for post-conviction relief on September 2, 2010. (App. p. 223- p. 238). Respondent filed a return dated December 30, 2010. (App. P. 239 -p.244). An evidentiary hearing was held on April 17, 2013, before the Honorable Frank R. Addy, Jr. Petitioner was present and was represented by Charles Brooks, Esquire. Respondent was represented by J. Walt Whitmire, Esquire. Both petitioner and trial counsel testified at the hearing. (App. P. 245- p. 319). On February 17, 2014, Judge Addy issued an order denying and dismissing petitioner's application for post-conviction relief. (App. P. 320-p. 330)

A Johnson petition for writ of certiorari was filed on April 18, 2014. On October 7, 2014, this Court issued an order directing the parties to address the issue that was presented in the Johnson petition. A petition for writ of certiorari was submitted on October 29, 2014. On April 22, 2015, the Court issued an order granting certiorari and directing the parties to submit briefs.

The brief of petitioner follows.

## ARGUMENT

Trial counsel was ineffective in failing to object to the trial judge providing audio equipment that allowed the jury to listen to the tape of the controlled buy with the confidential informant.

In post-conviction, a petitioner may be granted relief based on ineffective assistance of counsel under the Sixth Amendment to the United States Constitution if he shows: (1) that trial counsel failed to render reasonably effective assistance under prevailing professional norms, and (2) that he was prejudiced by counsel's ineffective performance. Strickland v. Washington, 466, U.S. 668, 104 S.Ct. 2052 (1984). To prove prejudice, petitioner must show that there was a reasonable probability that but for counsel's errors, the result of proceeding would be different. Cherry v. State, 300 S.C. 386 S.E.2d 624 (1989). A "reasonable probability" is simply a probability sufficient to undermine confidence in the outcome of the trial. Johnson v. State 325 S.C. 182, 480 S.E.2d 733 (1997). In addition, "counsel must articulate a valid reason for employing a certain strategy to avoid a finding of ineffectiveness." Roseboro v. State, 317 S.C. 292, 454 S.E. 2d 312 (1995). Trial counsel can be found ineffective for failing to object to an improper jury instruction or in failing to request a jury instruction that should have been given. He can be held ineffective for failing to object to the improper admission of character evidence, hearsay, or prior bad acts, or illegally obtained statements, confessions, or improper searches. Failing to move for a continuance may also constitute ineffective assistance of counsel. Morris v. State, 371 S. C. 278, 639 S.E. 2d 53 (2006). Failing to properly investigate may lead to a claim of ineffective assistance of counsel. Stalk v. State, 383 S.C. 559, 681 S.E.2d 592 (2009). And counsel may be alleged ineffective for failing to fully cross-examine a witness. State v. Nance, 393 S.C. 289, 712 S.E. 2d 446(2011); Kirkpatrick v. State, 306 S.C. 359, 412 S.E. 2d 389(1991).

In some instances counsel may be held ineffective without a showing of prejudice when he fails to subject the prosecution's case to a meaningful adversarial testing. In such cases prejudice is presumed. Nance v. Ozmit, 367 S.C. 547, 626 S.E. 2d 878 (2006).

During opening argument in petitioner's case, the assistant solicitor referenced the fact that the police had to use a paid informant, Jannie Wiseman, with a prior record to see if she could buy some crack cocaine from petitioner. The assistant solicitor also told the jury that the police put a wire on the informant so they could listen to people who she was talking to and so they could make an audio recording. The jury would be able to hear the recording on a C.D. (App. p. 45, lines 16 – p. 49, line 25). The jury was also told that there was a lot of garble and static on the recording and it would be played in the courtroom. They could also hear it during deliberations. They could play it over and over. (App. p. 50, lines 2 – 17; app. p. 53, lines 2 – 7).

Defense counsel's argument stressed that the paid informant with the prior record was not credible. (App. p. 56, lines 17 – 23). And, she would not be credible about what was on the audio C.D. (App. p. 57, line 9 – p. 58, line 8).

The first witness for the State, Detective Burke, testified that he worked with the informant on this case. He identified State's Exhibit 3 as the C.D. recording of the buy. (App. p. 65, lines 13 – 20; app. p. 71, lines 1 – 10). The informant, Jannie Wiseman, testified next and the C.D. recording was played to the jury. (App. p. 99, line 17 – p. 100, line 7).


During closing argument, the assistant solicitor told the jury they would get to take the C.D. back with them. He said they will set up a way for them to play it. He urged the jury to play the C.D. Then he played excerpts for them to hear. (App. p. 169, line 20 – p. 170, line 16). He again urged them to listen to the tape. (App. p. 172, lines 1 – 2). Just prior to deliberations, equipment was taken into the jury room for them to play the C.D. (App. p. 201, line 21 – p. 203, line 23).

At the evidentiary hearing, trial counsel testified that he did not object to the tape going into the jury room because it was an exhibit. (App. p. 286, lines 21 – 23). In the order of dismissal, the PCR judge wrote that petitioner’s allegation concerning the jury having access to the C.D. during deliberations was “wholly without merit.” The order then cited State v. Steadman, 257 S.C. 528, 542, 186 S.E.2d 712, 717 (1972). The order of dismissal in this respect was in error. In State v. Gulledge, 277 S.C. 368, 287 S.E.2d 488 (1982), the Court held that the trial judge abused his discretion in allowing the jury to take into the jury room a transcript of a tape between a highway patrolman who had been shot and a patrolman who received the call, because it unduly emphasized that evidence. The audio tape in petitioner’s case was cumulative to the State’s case and sending it into the jury room unduly emphasized it. In Jolly v. State, 314 S.C. 17, 443 S.E.2d 566 (1994), the Court wrote that improper corroboration evidence cannot be harmless because it is the “cumulative effect which enhances the devastating impact of improper corroboration.”

CONCLUSION

Petitioner's conviction should be reversed.