STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Supreme Court

CERTIORARI TO LEXINGTON COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

The Honorable R. Knox McMahon, Trial Judge
The Honorable Frank R. Addy, PCR Judge

Appellate Case No. 2014-000446

Stanley Golson, Petitioner,

v.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA, Respondent.

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

WALT WHITMIRE
Assistant Attorney General
S.C. Bar # 100793

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, S.C. 29211
(803) 734-3737

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

QUESTION PRESENTED

1. Was the grant of Certiorari necessary to review whether the PCR Judge erred in finding Petitioner's allegation that counsel's performance was ineffective for failing to object to the Trial Judge providing audio equipment to jury that allowed them to listen to State's evidence during deliberation?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Respondent adopts Petitioner's statement of the case.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

In 2004, the Double Branch Community of Lexington County was plagued by narcotics crime. The police took notice, developed Petitioner as a personality in the activity, and initiated a buy/bust operation to rid the community of the pestilence. **App.p.61, ln. 12-16.** Police sought out an informant, Jannie Wiseman, who was familiar with Petitioner and his dealings. **App.p.65, ln. 16-21.** On May 25, 2004, Jannie went to Petitioner's residence on Holmes' Street to purchase forty (\$40) dollars worth of crack-cocaine. Petitioner and another male greeted her at the door. **App.p.92, ln. 24-25.** Upon entering the residence, Jannie initiated the transaction with Petitioner whereupon he took her money, jettisoned to his stash spot to retrieve the drugs, then tendered two rocks, .25 grams, of crack-cocaine to her.¹ **App.pp.93-94; p.137, ln. 17-19.** Before Jannie exited the residence, Petitioner provided a phone number² to her in conjunction to his sells pitch concerning the consistency of his product. **App.p.95, ln. 7-8.** The police monitored the transaction through a wire that had been placed on Petitioner's person. The audio recording captured from the wire was admitted into evidence and played for the jury. **App.p.100.**

In pertinent part, the Trial Judge instructed the jury:

I will ask you, Mr. Foreman -- well, just several others things. We will make arrangements for you to have the equipment in there where you can listen to the tape. I assume and I am sure -- I think there was a software computer engineer on the jury. I am sure there is someone that can operate it with ease in there. If not I will make arrangements to have someone do

¹ Jannie had known Petitioner for over twenty (20) years and had no difficulty identifying him as the culprit. **App.p.87; App.p.77.**

² Petitioner's grandmother, Viola Martin, testified for the State that Petitioner had been living with her at the Holmes Street address. She further testified that she gave Petitioner permission to make and receive calls from her telephone. **App.p.117.**

that. But if you have any problems technically, please let me know. We will have all the exhibits in there with you.

App.p.202, ln.20—p.203, ln.3.

Applicant alleged counsel was ineffective for failing to object to the admissibility of the audio recording to the informant's wiretap based on (1) violation of State and Federal wiretap code; (2) authenticity. App.pp.263-65; p.276. Petitioner opined that he was harmed because the jury considered inadmissible evidence during deliberations. Counsel testified that there was no basis to have lodged a meritorious objection on the matter. **App.p.286; pp.290-91.**

In the order denying and dismissing Petitioner's Application, the PCR Judge found the audio recording from the wiretap constituted admissible evidence; In ruling on all of Petitioner's unavailing allegations, the PCR Judge further found the Applicant's companion allegation that he was prejudiced because the jury had access to access to the purported inadmissible audio recording during its deliberations.

This discretionary appeal follows.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The proper standard for review of a PCR evidentiary hearing is whether "any evidence of probative value" exists to sustain the post-conviction relief judge's findings. Cherry v. State, 300 S.C. 115, 119, 386 S.E.2d 624, 626 (1989). In a post-conviction relief proceeding, the applicant bears the burden of proving the allegations in their application. Butler v. State, 286 S.C. 441, 442, 334 S.E.2d 813, 814 (1985).

ARGUMENT

Certiorari was unwarranted to review whether the PCR Judge's ruling that the allegation of ineffective assistance of counsel for failure to object to the trial judge providing audio equipment to the jury during deliberations was readily without merit where the allegation itself was facially deficient.

Petitioner's argument is not preserved for this Court's review; and even if it was preserved, Petitioner's argument is entirely without merit where the PCR Judge's jury instructed the jury that equipment.

A.

Petitioner argues that the "audio tape in petitioner's case was cumulative to the State's case and sending it into the jury room unduly emphasized it." **BOP, p.7.**

In the order of dismissal, the PCR Judge found Pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. §17-27-80 (2003), the PCR Judge fully addressed the allegation in his "Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law, Section (B)" as follows: "[t]his Court finds [Petitioner had no privacy interest in the wire worn on the informant's person. At the PCR hearing, [Petitioner] acknowledged that he invited the informant into his home as a social guest." App.p.327. The PCR Judge also found "[Petitioner]'s allegation that counsel was ineffective for failing to object to the admission of the audio tape from the informant's wire based on authenticity is without merit. A proper foundation for the evidence was established." App.p.327. Based on the PCR Judge's rejection Petitioner's admissibility allegation, he made a further rudimentary finding that "[Petitioner]'s allegation that counsel was ineffective for not objecting to the jury having access to exhibits during the deliberations to be wholly without merit." **App.p.337.**

In denying and dismissing Petitioner's PCR Application, the PCR Judge ruled "[Petitioner]'s allegation that counsel was ineffective for not objecting to the jury having access to the exhibits during deliberations to wholly without merit." App.p.327. The PCR Judge made the following findings in support of his ruling: Petitioner alleged counsel's performance was ineffective for failing to object to the admission of the wire tape because the State failed to properly authenticate the exhibit at trial based on Petitioner's assertion that "you couldn't hardly hear nobodies voice, you definitely could not hear my voice on the tape." **App.p.323.**³

Because Petitioner's post hoc Strickland allegation is facially flawed, the PCR Judge made the correct ruling in finding that the allegation itself was readily without merit. For an applicant to be granted PCR as a result of ineffective assistance of counsel, he must show both: (1) that his counsel failed to render reasonably effective assistance under prevailing professional norms, and (2) that he was prejudiced by his counsel's ineffective performance. See Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668 (1984); Porter v. State, 368 S.C. 378, 383, 629 S.E.2d 353, 356 (2006). In order to prove prejudice, an applicant must show "there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's unprofessional errors, the result of the proceeding would have been different." Cherry v. State, 300 S.C. at 117-18, 386 S.E.2d at 625. "A reasonable probability is a probability sufficient to undermine confidence in the outcome of trial." Johnson v. State, 325 S.C. 182, 186, 480 S.E.2d 733, 735 (1997) (citing Strickland, 466 U.S. at 668).

Petitioner's allegation is deficient where he asserted that counsel's failure to

³ The PCR Judge's Order here was supported by Petitioner's testimony at the hearing. See App.p.264, ln.4-6; p.275 ln.22—p.276, ln.1.

object on this matter prejudiced his case because the audio from the wire tape did not capture his voice, thereby lacking evidentiary value because it did not implicate him in the controlled buy that led to his arrest. Petitioner asserted that he was denied the fundamental right to an adversarial proceeding because the jury purportedly should not have been improperly urged to listen to evidence that supported the defense's case based on the proposition that audio tape was inadmissible evidence that lacked relevance to the State's case-in-chief. Thus, the PCR Judge's swift denial and dismissal here was appropriate where the allegation was solely supported by Petitioner's illogical speculation. See White v. Livingston, 231 S.C. 301, 308, 98 S.E.2d 534, 537 (1957) ("It may be added that the evidence adduced before the referee indicates that the result of the case is not a serious miscarriage of justice, if it is a miscarriage at all. At any rate, appellant has made his bed and he must lie in it").

Furthermore, the solicitor's purportedly improper request that the jury listen to the audio tape played into counsel's certain trial strategy to focus the jury's attention to this item of evidence.⁴ Counsel must articulate a valid reason for employing a certain strategy to avoid a finding of ineffectiveness. See Roseboro v. State, 317 S.C. 292, 294, 454 S.E.2d 312, 313 (1995). "Courts must be wary of second-guessing counsel's trial tactics; and where counsel articulates a valid reason for employing certain strategy, such conduct will not be deemed ineffective assistance of counsel." Whitehead v. State, 308 S.C. 119, 122, 417 S.E.2d 529, 531 (1992) (citing Goodson v. United States, 564 F.2d 1071 (4th Cir.1977)).

⁴ See Wood v. Allen, 558 U.S. 290 (2010) ("a strategic or tactical decision does not have to be articulated by counsel on the record; counsel doesn't have to personally identify his or her thinking. It is enough that the record show a basis for strategy, not that counsel announce that strategy on the record.")

In the defense's closing argument, counsel commented "[The police] didn't want to tip anybody off to what they were doing. Because as you have heard, there was a lot of people around here. As you will hear on that tape, there were a lot of people around. [The police] don't want to drive into that mess and get found out." **App.p.178, ln.9-13** (emphasis added). Counsel summarized the solicitor's closing argument and the State's case as follows:

[The State] didn't play the whole thing for you in this last argument because [the State] needed to give you a snapshot in hopes that you will lose sight of the big picture. Listen to the rest of that tape. Listen to the other people there. Listen to what other people are saying.

Listen to who is saying way, who is not saying what. Listen to the inflections. Listen to the tones. Listen to what they are discussing on there. Think about what [the informant] said happened while that tape was going on.

Stanley, my buddy, known him for 20 years, he is the target. He's the guy I will get paid to get arrested. Stanley left. Where did he go? I don't know. Out the back door? Yeah. Could you see out back? Yeah. So where did he go? I don't know. I didn't see.

App.p.182, ln. 10—p. 183, ln. 6 (emphasis added). Counsel circled back to this matter of the tape, **App.p.185, ln. 3-12**, and concluded the defense's closing argument by stating "Like I said, go back, look at the evidence, listen to that tape. Think about what is not here. Think about what hasn't been shown to you. Realize that is also as important as what has been. I think when you do that, you will come back with a verdict of not guilty." **App.p.187, ln. 11-16**. Therefore, the matter at issue was the central focus of counsel's valid trial strategy in the presentation of the defense's theory of the case. See Caprood v. State, 338 S.C. 103, 110, 525 S.E.2d 514, 517 (2000) ("This was a valid **trial strategy**, and should not be the basis of a finding of **ineffective** assistance of counsel").

Accordingly, Petitioner failed to prove the first prong of the Strickland test – that

counsel failed to render reasonably constitutionally effective assistance under prevailing professional norms. Similarly, Petitioner also failed to prove the second prong of Strickland – that he was prejudiced by counsel’s performance.

As Petitioner failed to meet this burden of proving ineffective assistance of trial counsel on this issue, the PCR judge did not err in denying the PCR application. See Frasier v. State, 351 S.C. 385, 389, 570 S.E.2d 172, 174 (2002) (“The burden of proof is on the applicant to prove his allegations by a preponderance of the evidence.”).

CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, Respondent submits this Court should deny and dismiss the grant Certiorari as improvidently granted.